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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: BERGEN COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. BER-L- 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

COMPLAINT IN LIEU OF 

PREROGATIVE WRITS 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

     Plaintiff, JACQUELINE ROSA (herein “Plaintiff”), residing in Edgewater, New Jersey, by 

way of Complaint against Defendants, alleges as follows: 

 

NATURE OF ACTION 

     This is an action in lieu of prerogative writs challenging the validity of an ordinance enacted 

by the Borough of Leonia. 

PARTIES 

     1. Plaintiff is an interested party affected by the enactment of Defendant, Borough of Leonia’s 

ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2. Plaintiff’s right to travel on public streets and freely enjoy 

public streets for the purpose of transportation have been denied, violated and infringed upon by 

the actions of the Defendants. Plaintiff is a resident of Edgewater, NJ, who commutes through 

Leonia on a weekly basis, to travel to and from her home. Plaintiff has standing to bring this 
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action because this case involves a substantial public interest, and the Plaintiff has a private 

interest.  

     2. Defendant, Borough of Leonia (“Borough”) is the municipality enacting ordinance §194-

25.1 and §194-25.2, and infringing upon Plaintiff’s rights.  

     3. The Defendant Borough of Leonia Council (“Council”) is the governing body of the 

municipality and is responsible for enacting and passing municipal ordinances.  

     4. The Defendant, Tom Rowe (“Rowe”), was the acting Borough Clerk for the Borough of 

Leonia, and in that capacity in the official custodian of records. 

     5. The Defendant, Judah Zeigler, (“Zeigler”)is the mayor of the Borough of Leonia and 

approved ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

 

FIRST COUNT 

CHALLENGE TO THE VALIDITY OF ORDINANCE §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

     6. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-5.   

     7. On January 22, 2018, the Borough put into effect ordinance §194-25.1, which was signed 

by defendant Rowe and Zeigler and approved by the Council. This ordinance amends chapter 

194 to include “temporary closing of streets.” 

     8. The Ordinance specifically mandates that over seventy streets will be closed to the public 

during designated hours, unless that person is a resident of the specific street, or needing access 

to his or her home within the Borough, or can name a business they are going to.  

     9. The Ordinance states that the seventy plus streets will be closed daily from 6:00am to 

10:00am and from 4:00pm to 9:00pm. 
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   10. Any person who is not a resident of the Borough, or who cannot produce valid 

documentation will be fined two hundred dollars as listed in §194-25.2. 

     11. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 violates Plaintiff’s right to freedom of travel and are 

facially and presumptively invalid. 

     12. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.  

     13. The validity of Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are a matter of public interest rather 

than private interests and requires adjudication. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 cause a 

continuing public harm to travel. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, 

attorney’s fees, and for other such relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

SECOND COUNT 

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 39:4-8 

14. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-13.  

15. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that any ordinance, resolution, or regulation which places any 

impact on a State roadway shall require the approval of the commissioner. 

16. The Borough has closed over seventy streets, many of which connect to State 

Highway Route 4, Route 80, and the New Jersey Turnpike.  

17. Closing these roads during commuting hours has resulted in an increase in traffic on 

all three State Highways and would therefore also increase the safety of commuters on these 

highways.  
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18. The Borough has not sought approval from the Commissioner and is in direct 

violation of N.J.S.A 39:4-8. 

19. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 also states that municipality that is enacting the ordinance, must 

provide appropriate notice to the adjoining municipality or county before enacting such 

ordinance. No such prior notice was given.  

20. The Borough’s new ordinance places an increased burden on surrounding 

municipalities, some including Fort Lee, Teaneck and Edgewater, which will see an increase in 

commuting traffic from the state highways.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

THIRD COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A 39:4-197. 

21. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-20.  

22. N.J.S.A. 39:4-197 requires that a municipality may not pass an ordinance that alters 

or nullifies any provisions of N.J.S.A. 39:4-197 without the approval of the Commissioner.  

23. The Borough’s ordinance is in clear violation of the intended nature of N.J.S.A 39:4-8 

and N.J.S.A. 39:4-197, and does not fall into any of the exceptions.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 
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FOURTH COUNT 

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION N.J.S.A 39:4-197.2 

24. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-23.  

25. N.J.S.A 39:4-197.2, states that a municipality may not regulate traffic on a county 

road unless it complies with N.J.S.A. 39:4-197, and has consent or the governing body of the 

county. 

26. For reasons listed under Count Three, the Borough is not in compliance with N.J.S.A 

39:4-197.  

27. The Borough has limited traffic on parts of Fort Lee Road, Broad Avenue, Grand 

Avenue, and Bergen Boulevard, all of which are county roads except Broad Avenue. Broad Ave, 

Grand Ave and Bergen Boulevard run through both Bergen and Hudson counties.  

28. By blocking off the roads to the public, the Borough has limited the public’s ability to 

drive on roads that run through multiple municipalities and counties.   

29. The Borough failed to get consent from the governing body of Bergen county and is 

therefore in violation of N.J.A. 39:4-197.2. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

FIFTH COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.2 IS IN VIOLATION of N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 

30. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-29.   
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31. The Borough has enacted a two hundred dollar ($200.00) fine for any vehicle who 

violates ordinance §194-25.1. 

32. N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 specifically states that anyone who drives a vehicle over or upon 

the closed section of the highway, road or street which he knows or should have reason to know 

has been closed to traffic shall be subject to a fine of no more than $100.00.  

33. The Borough has unilaterally decided on a fee they can charge to motorists which is 

in direct violation of state law.  

  WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a 

declaration that Ordinance §194-25.2 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and 

for other such relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

DESIGNATION OF TRIAL COUNSEL  

 Pursuant to R. 4:25-4, plaintiff designates Jacqueline Rosa as trial counsel. 

 

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 4:5-1 
 

Pursuant to Rule 4:5-1, the undersigned certifies that the matter in controversy is not the 

subject of any other action pending in any Court or of a pending arbitration proceeding, nor is 

any other action or arbitration proceeding contemplated. 

 

SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC   

   

 

_____________________________ 

       Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

        Pro Se Plaintiff 

 

Dated:  January 30, 2018 
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Civil Case Information Statement

Case Details: BERGEN | Civil Part Docket# L-000750-18

Case Caption: ROSA JACQUELIN  VS BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA

Case Initiation Date: 01/30/2018

Attorney Name: JACQUELINE M ROSA

Firm Name: SEIGEL LAW LLC

Address: 505 GOFFLE RD

RIDGEWOOD NJ 074500000

Phone: 
Name of Party: PLAINTIFF : Rosa, Jacquelin 

Name of Defendant’s Primary Insurance Company 
(if known): Unknown

THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ON THIS FORM CANNOT BE INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE
CASE CHARACTERISTICS FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING IF CASE IS APPROPRIATE FOR MEDIATION

Do parties have a current, past, or recurrent relationship? NO

If yes, is that relationship:    

Does the statute governing this case provide for payment of fees by the losing party? NO

Use this space to alert the court to any special case characteristics that may warrant individual 
management or accelerated disposition:

Do you or your client need any disability accommodations? NO
If yes, please identify the requested accommodation:

Will an interpreter be needed? NO
If yes, for what language:

I certify that confidential personal identifiers have been redacted from documents now submitted to the 
court, and will be redacted from all documents submitted in the future in accordance with Rule 1:38-7(b)

01/30/2018
Dated

/s/ JACQUELINE M ROSA
Signed

Case Type: ACTIONS IN LIEU OF PREROGATIVE WRITS

Document Type: Complaint with Jury Demand

Jury Demand: YES - 6 JURORS

Hurricane Sandy related? NO

Is this a professional malpractice case?  NO

Related cases pending: NO

If yes, list docket numbers: 
Do you anticipate adding any parties (arising out of same 
transaction or occurrence)? YES
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: BERGEN COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. BER-L-0750-18 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

AMENDED 

COMPLAINT IN LIEU OF 

PREROGATIVE WRITS 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

     Plaintiff, JACQUELINE ROSA (herein “Plaintiff”), residing in Edgewater, New Jersey, by 

way of Complaint against Defendants, alleges as follows: 

 

NATURE OF ACTION 

     This is an action in lieu of prerogative writs challenging the validity of an ordinance enacted 

by the Borough of Leonia. 

PARTIES 

     1. Plaintiff is an interested party affected by the enactment of Defendant, Borough of Leonia’s 

ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2. Plaintiff’s right to travel on public streets and freely enjoy 

public streets for the purpose of transportation have been denied, violated and infringed upon by 

the actions of the Defendants. Plaintiff is a resident of Edgewater, NJ, who commutes through 

Leonia on a weekly basis, to travel to and from her home. Plaintiff has standing to bring this 
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action because this case involves a substantial public interest, and the Plaintiff has a private 

interest.  

     2. Defendant, Borough of Leonia (“Borough”) is the municipality enacting ordinance §194-

25.1 and §194-25.2, and infringing upon Plaintiff’s rights.  

     3. The Defendant Borough of Leonia Council (“Council”) is the governing body of the 

municipality and is responsible for enacting and passing municipal ordinances.  

     4. The Defendant, Tom Rowe (“Rowe”), was the acting Borough Clerk for the Borough of 

Leonia, and in that capacity in the official custodian of records. 

     5. The Defendant, Judah Zeigler, (“Zeigler”)is the mayor of the Borough of Leonia and 

approved ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

 

FIRST COUNT 

CHALLENGE TO THE VALIDITY OF ORDINANCE §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

     6. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-5.   

     7. On January 22, 2018, the Borough put into effect ordinance §194-25.1, which was signed 

by defendant Rowe and Zeigler and approved by the Council. This ordinance amends chapter 

194 to include “temporary closing of streets.” 

     8. The Ordinance specifically mandates that over seventy streets will be closed to the public 

during designated hours, unless that person is a resident of the specific street, or needing access 

to his or her home within the Borough, or can name a business they are going to.  

     9. The Ordinance states that the seventy plus streets will be closed daily from 6:00am to 

10:00am and from 4:00pm to 9:00pm. 
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   10. Any person who is not a resident of the Borough, or who cannot produce valid 

documentation will be fined two hundred dollars as listed in §194-25.2. 

     11. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 violates Plaintiff’s right to freedom of travel and are 

facially and presumptively invalid. 

     12. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.  

     13. The validity of Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are a matter of public interest rather 

than private interests and requires adjudication. Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 cause a 

continuing public harm to travel. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 are void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, 

attorney’s fees, and for other such relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

SECOND COUNT 

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A. 39:4-8 

14. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-13.  

15. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that any ordinance, resolution, or regulation which places any 

impact on a State roadway shall require the approval of the commissioner. 

16. The Borough has closed over seventy streets, many of which connect to State 

Highway Route 4, Route 80, and the New Jersey Turnpike.  

17. Closing these roads during commuting hours has resulted in an increase in traffic on 

all three State Highways and would therefore also increase the safety of commuters on these 

highways.  
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18. The Borough has not sought approval from the Commissioner and is in direct 

violation of N.J.S.A 39:4-8. 

19. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 also states that municipality that is enacting the ordinance, must 

provide appropriate notice to the adjoining municipality or county before enacting such 

ordinance. No such prior notice was given.  

20. The Borough’s new ordinance places an increased burden on surrounding 

municipalities, some including Fort Lee, Teaneck and Edgewater, which will see an increase in 

commuting traffic from the state highways.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

THIRD COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION OF N.J.S.A 39:4-197. 

21. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-20.  

22. N.J.S.A. 39:4-197 requires that a municipality may not pass an ordinance that alters 

or nullifies any provisions of N.J.S.A. 39:4-197 without the approval of the Commissioner.  

23. The Borough’s ordinance is in clear violation of the intended nature of N.J.S.A 39:4-8 

and N.J.S.A. 39:4-197, and does not fall into any of the exceptions.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 
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FOURTH COUNT 

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS IN VIOLATION N.J.S.A 39:4-197.2 

24. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-23.  

25. N.J.S.A 39:4-197.2, states that a municipality may not regulate traffic on a county 

road unless it complies with N.J.S.A. 39:4-197, and has consent or the governing body of the 

county. 

26. For reasons listed under Count Three, the Borough is not in compliance with N.J.S.A 

39:4-197.  

27. The Borough has limited traffic on parts of Fort Lee Road, Broad Avenue, Grand 

Avenue, and Bergen Boulevard, all of which are county roads except Broad Avenue. Broad Ave, 

Grand Ave and Bergen Boulevard run through both Bergen and Hudson counties.  

28. By blocking off the roads to the public, the Borough has limited the public’s ability to 

drive on roads that run through multiple municipalities and counties.   

29. The Borough failed to get consent from the governing body of Bergen county and is 

therefore in violation of N.J.A. 39:4-197.2. 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

FIFTH COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.2 IS IN VIOLATION of N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 

30. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-29.   
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31. The Borough has enacted a two hundred dollar ($200.00) fine for any vehicle who 

violates ordinance §194-25.1. 

32. N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 specifically states that anyone who drives a vehicle over or upon 

the closed section of the highway, road or street which he knows or should have reason to know 

has been closed to traffic shall be subject to a fine of no more than $100.00.  

33. The Borough has unilaterally decided on a fee they can charge to motorists which is 

in direct violation of state law.  

  WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a 

declaration that Ordinance §194-25.2 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and 

for other such relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

SIXTH COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS A VIOLATION OF PLAINTIFF’S  

CIVIL RIGHTS UNDER 42 U.S. CODE §1983. 

34. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-33.  

35. U.S. Code §1983 guarantees Plaintiff her civil rights under the law. 

36. Defendants’ are violating Plaintiff’s Fifth Amendment rights of basic liberty. 

37. Plaintiff has a constitutional right to travel freely without being stopped and 

questioned 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 
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SEVENTH COUNT  

ORDINANCE §194-25.1 IS A VIOLATION OF THE INTERSTATE COMMERCE 

CLAUSE 

38. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the statements in numbers 1-33.  

39. The Interstate Commerce Clause, found in Article 1, Section 8 of the US Constitution 

states that a state may not pass legislation that discriminates against or excessively burdens 

interstate commerce.  

40. State regulations affecting interstate commerce, whose purpose or effect is to gain for 

those within the state an advantage at the expense of those without, or to burden those out of the 

state without any corresponding advantage to those within, impinge on the Plaintiff’s 

Constitutional rights. 

41. The Borough cannot enact an ordinance that favors only the residents of its town, and 

discriminates against non-residents and commuters within and out of New Jersey.  

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands judgment against Defendants, for a declaration that 

Ordinance §194-25.1 is void and of no effect, for interest and costs of suit, and for other such 

relief as the Court deems just and equitable. 

 

DESIGNATION OF TRIAL COUNSEL  

 Pursuant to R. 4:25-4, plaintiff designates Jacqueline Rosa as trial counsel. 
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CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 4:5-1 
 

Pursuant to Rule 4:5-1, the undersigned certifies that the matter in controversy is not the 

subject of any other action pending in any Court or of a pending arbitration proceeding, nor is 

any other action or arbitration proceeding contemplated. 

 

SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC   

   

 

_____________________________ 

       Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

        Pro Se Plaintiff 

 

Dated:  February 12, 2018 
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Civil Case Information Statement

Case Details: HUDSON | Civil Part Docket# L-000607-18

Case Caption: ROSA JACQUELIN  VS BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA

Case Initiation Date: 01/30/2018

Attorney Name: BRIAN M CHEWCASKIE

Firm Name: GITTLEMAN MUHLSTOCK & CHEWCASKIE 

LLP

Address: 2200 FLETCHER AVE

FORT LEE NJ 07024

Phone: 
Name of Party: DEFENDANT : BOROUGH OF LEONIA 

Name of Defendant’s Primary Insurance Company 
(if known): None

THE INFORMATION PROVIDED ON THIS FORM CANNOT BE INTRODUCED INTO EVIDENCE
CASE CHARACTERISTICS FOR PURPOSES OF DETERMINING IF CASE IS APPROPRIATE FOR MEDIATION

Do parties have a current, past, or recurrent relationship? NO

If yes, is that relationship:    

Does the statute governing this case provide for payment of fees by the losing party? NO

Use this space to alert the court to any special case characteristics that may warrant individual 
management or accelerated disposition:

Do you or your client need any disability accommodations? NO
If yes, please identify the requested accommodation:

Will an interpreter be needed? NO
If yes, for what language:

I certify that confidential personal identifiers have been redacted from documents now submitted to the 
court, and will be redacted from all documents submitted in the future in accordance with Rule 1:38-7(b)

02/28/2018
Dated

/s/ BRIAN M CHEWCASKIE
Signed

Case Type: ACTIONS IN LIEU OF PREROGATIVE WRITS

Document Type: Answer

Jury Demand: YES - 6 JURORS

Hurricane Sandy related? NO

Is this a professional malpractice case?  NO

Related cases pending: NO

If yes, list docket numbers: 
Do you anticipate adding any parties (arising out of same 
transaction or occurrence)? NO
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May 04, 2018 

 

VIA E-Courts 

Honorable Peter F. Bariso 

Superior Court of New Jersey 

Hudson County Superior Court 

583 Newark Avenue 

Jersey City, NJ 07306 

 

Re: Rosa vs. Leonia 

 Docket No: HUD-L-607-18 

  

Dear Judge Bariso: 

  

 Enclosed please find a courtesy copy of plaintiff’s Brief. 

 Thank you for your courtesies in this regard 

 

Respectfully, 

SEIGEL LAW LLC 

 

 

By: ________________________ 

       Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

JR/pr 

Encl. 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

CERTIFICATION OF COUNSEL 

FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE 

FOR  A PRELIMINARY 

INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY 

RELIEF 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

I, JACQUELINE ROSA, do hereby certify as follows: 

 

1. I am an attorney at law duly licensed to practice before the Courts of this State.  I bring this 

action as a pro se Plaintiff, and as such, I am fully familiar with all the facts and 

circumstances of this action.  I make this certification in support of the Order to Show Cause.  

2. In supporting said action, the Undersigned relies on the Statement of Material Facts and the 

Undersigned’s Brief. 

 

 I certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true.  I am aware that if any of the 

foregoing statements are willfully false, I am subject to punishment.    

     

 

BY: _____________________________ 

Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

DATE: May 4, 2018 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       By: Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

 

 

       _________________________ 

May 4, 2018 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 This matter arises out of a lawsuit that was filed on January 30, 2018 against the Borough 

of Leonia and other defendants, for illegally closing some sixty (60) residential streets in their 

municipality to non-residents, and traffic with non-Leonia business.  

 Among other things, the complaint alleges that Ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

enacted by the Borough of Leonia, violate Plaintiff’s right to freedom of travel and are facially 

and presumptively invalid, as well as arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.  

 Defendants have been in violation of Plaintiff’s Civil rights since the enactment of the 

Ordinance in January 2018.   

  

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

1) On or about January 22, 2018 the Borough of Leonia enacted a ban on 60 residential streets in 

their municipality. 

2) The Borough cited to their Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, which would block streets 

from 6:00am to 10:00am and from 4:00pm to 9:00pm.  

3) No person, unless a resident of the Borough, or a person who can demonstrate a need to access 

a residence or business would be allowed to use one of closed streets during the prescribed times.  

4) At no time prior to enacting the Ordinance, did the Borough consult the State of New Jersey, 

Department of Transportation, or the Commissioner of Transportation to get approval for said 

street closures.  

5) On or about May 2, 2018, the Attorney General of New Jersey, Gurbir Grewal, stated that the 

Borough’s road closures were “legally invalid,” and should be rescinded.   
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6) Defendants have refused to take down their signs and re-open their streets to the general 

public since enacting Ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2. 

7) Plaintiff now files this Order to Show Cause as irreparable harm is being caused by the 

continued closures.  

 

POINT 1 

A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF IS APPROPRIATE 

 

 In bringing an Order to Show Cause for a preliminary injunction with temporary relief, 

Plaintiff must prove a four prong test. Crowe v. Di Gioia, 90 N.J. 126 (1982).  The first of the 

four prongs is to show irreparable harm to the Plaintiff. In the matter at hand the Defendants 

have had their streets closed for over four months to the Plaintiff and the public. Plaintiff is not 

allowed to freely travel on any of the closed streets during the nine hours of restricted time. 

Every day that goes by that the Plaintiff cannot use any of the Defendant’s public streets, her 

Civil Rights are being violated.          

Additionally, Plaintiff is a resident of a neighboring town and uses the Leonia streets to 

commute daily, go to parks in Leonia, visit shops and businesses. The Plaintiff cannot be stopped 

and questioned every time she chooses to use one of these streets. Plaintiff has the right to travel 

freely without being stopped and questioned by the Borough’s Police. The Court has found that, 

“in certain circumstances, severe personal inconvenience can constitute irreparable injury 

justifying issuance of injunctive relief. Hodge v. Giese, 43 N.J. Eq. 342, 350.  All of the 

Borough’s streets must be re-opened until the final resolution of the case.  

 The second principle is that temporary relief should be granted when the legal right 

underlying plaintiff's claim is settled. See, Crowe. Besides the fact that the current Attorney 

General has condemned the defendants’ Ordinance, there is additional support from the Attorney 
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General’s office from a 1955 written opinion. The opinion from 1955 was written in response to 

the Town of Demarest, NJ, trying to close streets exactly the same way the Defendants have.  

Then Attorney General, Grover C. Richman, Jr., took the position that, “The power to designate 

no ‘through streets’, is not among the powers granted to a municipality…”.   Attached as 

Exhibit A, Copy of the Opinion.  

 Defendants have also violated several New Jersey State laws. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that 

any ordinance, resolution, or regulation which places any impact on a State roadway shall require 

the approval of the commissioner. The Ordinance clearly affects State roadways. The only 

remaining roads in Leonia that the Plaintiff can use during the restricted hours, are county roads 

and State Highways. Due to the traffic being restricted on over 60 side streets, plaintiff is forced 

to only use State operated roads to travel through Leonia. Plaintiff should not be forced to select 

only county roads or State highways to travel on. Additionally, all public travelers must face the 

same limited options during the restricted hours which leads to more traffic and dangerous 

conditions on the remaining routes. As admitted by Defense counsel, the defendants did not seek 

approval from the Commissioner and have unsuccessfully attempted to do so within the last 

month.  Further, N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that a municipality that is enacting the ordinance, must 

provide appropriate notice to the adjoining municipality or county before enacting such 

ordinance. None of the surrounding towns or counties were alerted to these road closures before 

they took place.  

N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 specifically states that anyone who drives a vehicle over or upon the 

closed section of the highway, road or street which he knows or should have reason to know has 

been closed to traffic shall be subject to a fine of no more than $100.00. The Borough has 

unilaterally decided on a fee they can charge to motorists which is in direct violation of state law. 
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Perhaps most alarmingly, Defendants are in violation of U.S. Code §1983, which 

guarantees Plaintiff her civil rights under the law. The law states, “every person who, under color 

of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of 

Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person 

within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured 

by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, 

or other proper proceeding for redress.”  Defendants are violating Plaintiff’s Fifth Amendment 

right by arbitrarily denying Plaintiff her liberty to travel freely and not be stopped and questioned 

for using public roads.  

Lastly, the defendants are violating the Interstate Commerce Clause, found in Article 1, 

Section 8 of the US Constitution which states that a state may not pass legislation that 

discriminates against or excessively burdens interstate commerce. State regulations affecting 

interstate commerce, whose purpose or effect is to gain for those within the state an advantage at 

the expense of those without, or to burden those out of the state without any corresponding 

advantage to those within, impinge on the Plaintiff’s Constitutional rights. S.C. State Highway 

Dept. v. Barnwell Bros., Inc., 303 U.S. 177 (1938).  Defendants’ are clearly giving Leonia 

residents an advantage by keeping their roads closed to the public. Plaintiff cannot use Leonia 

roads to travel to New York when the restricted hours are in place. Plaintiff has the right to travel 

to and from New Jersey using whatever roads she wants.  

The third prong to prevail on an application for temporary relief, a plaintiff must make a 

preliminary showing of a reasonable probability of ultimate success on the merits. Ideal Laundry 

Co. v. Gugliemone, 107 N.J. Eq. 108, 115-16 (E. & A. 1930). Based on the law, and the fact that 

defendants have not shown any legal support for their Ordinances, Plaintiff has a high likelihood 
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of being successful at the ultimate outcome of the case. Additionally, New Jersey Statues and 

case law have shown that defendants are outside the scope of powers granted to municipalities.  

The last test is to show the relative hardship to the parties in granting or denying relief. 

Here, the town has not shown any conclusive evidence that they suffer more of a hardship than 

Plaintiff or any other commuting member of the public. Leonia existed for decades without road 

closures and for years since the invention of digital GPS. There is no hardship to the Borough if 

the signs are taken down. On the other hand, Plaintiff has not been allowed to use those roads for 

the past four months. In addition to having to find other ways to travel around Leonia and the 

surrounding area, Plaintiff has been deprived of her Constitutional Rights. Every day that the 

roads are closed, and the Ordinance is upheld, the Plaintiff’s Civil Liberties are being violated.  

Plaintiff clearly passes the four prong test in a showing of good cause for the temporary 

re-opening of the 60 streets. In order to protect the Plaintiff’s civil rights, the Order to Show 

Cause must be granted and the streets must be re-opened immediately.  

 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Plaintiff’s application must be granted. Plaintiff is 

requesting that all signage be taken down, all police checks cease, all police stops cease, and 

public notice is given that the streets are re-opened to the public.  

 

         By: Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

 

May 4, 2018       ______________________ 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

ORDER GRANTING A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

 

 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

 THIS MATTER coming before the Court on an Order to Show Cause by Jacqueline Rosa, 

Esq., pro se attorney, and good and sufficient cause having been shown; 

It is on this ________ day of May, 2018, 

ORDERED that all restrictions on the 60 streets in Leonia must be rescinded, 

ORDERED that all signage pertaining to the road restrictions be taken down, 

ORDERED that all Police checks and stops must cease,  

ORDERED that notice be given to the public that Leonia streets are again available for all 

public use, 

 ORDERED that a copy of this Order be served upon all counsel within seven (7) days of 

receipt by plaintiff’s counsel. 

______________________________ 

       Honorable Peter F. Bariso, J.S.C. 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 
 

 

 
 

 

Civil Action 

 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

PURSURANT TO R. 4:52 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH 

ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor 

of the Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

THIS MATTER being brought before the court by Jacqueline Rosa, a pro se plaintiff, 

seeking relief by way of temporary restraints pursuant to R. 4:52, based upon the facts set forth 

in the verified complaint filed herewith; and it appearing that the defendants have notice of this 

application and have been served with a copy of this Order To Show Cause, and for good cause 

shown. It is on this ____ day of __________ ORDERED that defendants, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his 

official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia appear and show cause before the Superior 

Court at the _______ County Courthouse in _____________, New Jersey at _____ o’clock in the 

_____ noon or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard, on the ________day of 

______________, 2018 why an Order should not be issued preliminarily enjoining and 

restraining defendants, BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM 
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ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia from;        

A.  Continuing to enforce municipal ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, 

B. Continuing police checks, stops and warnings,  

C.  Defendants must remove all signage, 

D.  Granting such other relief as the court deems equitable and just.  

And it is further ORDERED that pending the return date herein, the defendant is 

temporarily enjoined and restrained from:  

A.  Enforcing ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

B.  The Borough of Leonia must re-open their roads to the Plaintiff, and the public without 

any restrictions.  

And it is further ORDERED that:  

1. The defendant may move to dissolve or modify the temporary restraints herein 

contained on two (2) days notice to the Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

2. A copy of this order to show cause, verified complaint, legal memorandum and any 

supporting affidavits or certifications submitted in support of this application be served upon the 

defendants personally within ____ days of the date hereof, in accordance with R. 4:4-3 and R. 

4:4-4, this being original process.  

3. The plaintiff must file with the court his/her/its proof of service of the pleadings on the 

defendant no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

4. Defendant shall file and serve a written response to this order to show cause and the 

request for entry of injunctive relief and proof of service by _________________, 2018. The 

original documents must be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the county listed above. 

You must send a copy of your opposition papers directly to Judge _____________________, 
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whose address is ________________________________, New Jersey. You must also send a 

copy of your opposition papers to the plaintiff’s attorney whose name and address appears 

above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. A telephone call will not protect your 

rights; you must file your opposition and pay the required fee of $ ______ and serve your 

opposition on your adversary, if you want the court to hear your opposition to the injunctive 

relief the plaintiff is seeking.  

5. The plaintiff must file and serve any written reply to the defendant’s order to show 

cause opposition by _________________, 2018. The reply papers must be filed with the Clerk of 

the Superior Court in the county listed above and a copy of the reply papers must be sent directly 

to the chambers of Judge _____________________.  

6. If the defendant does not file and serve opposition to this order to show cause, the 

application will be decided on the papers on the return date and relief may be granted by default, 

provided that the plaintiff files a proof of service and a proposed form of order at least three days 

prior to the return date.  

7. If the plaintiff has not already done so, a proposed form of order addressing the relief 

sought on the return date (along with a self-addressed return envelope with return address and 

postage) must be submitted to the court no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

8. Defendant take notice that the plaintiff has filed a lawsuit against you in the Superior 

Court of New Jersey. The verified complaint attached to this order to show cause states the basis 

of the lawsuit. If you dispute this complaint, you, or your attorney, must file a written answer to 

the complaint and proof of service within 35 days from the date of service of this order to show 

cause; not counting the day you received it. These documents must be filed with the Clerk of the 

Superior Court in the county listed above. Include a $_______ filing fee payable to the 
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“Treasurer State of New Jersey.” You must also send a copy of your Answer to the plaintiff’s 

attorney whose name and address appear above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. 

A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file and serve your Answer (with the fee) 

or judgment may be entered against you by default. Please note: Opposition to the order to show 

cause is not an Answer and you must file both. Please note further: if you do not file and serve an 

Answer within 35 days of this Order, the Court may enter a default against you for the relief 

plaintiff demands.  

9. The court will entertain argument, but not testimony, on the return date of the order to 

show cause, unless the court and parties are advised to the contrary no later than ___ days before 

the return date.  

 

 

 __________________________________  

      J.S.C 

 

Dated: ___________________________ 
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May 07, 2018 

 

VIA E-Courts 

Honorable Peter F. Bariso 

Superior Court of New Jersey 

Hudson County Superior Court 

583 Newark Avenue 

Jersey City, NJ 07306 

 

Re: Rosa vs. Leonia 

 Docket No: HUD-L-607-18 

  

Dear Judge Bariso: 

  

 Enclosed please find plaintiff’s updated Brief. 

 Thank you for your courtesies in this regard 

 

Respectfully, 

SEIGEL LAW LLC 

 

 

By: ________________________ 

       Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

JR/pr 

Encl. 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

CERTIFICATION OF COUNSEL 

FOR AN ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE 

FOR  A PRELIMINARY 

INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY 

RELIEF 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

I, JACQUELINE ROSA, do hereby certify as follows: 

 

1. I am an attorney at law duly licensed to practice before the Courts of this State.  I bring this 

action as a pro se Plaintiff, and as such, I am fully familiar with all the facts and 

circumstances of this action.  I make this certification in support of the Order to Show Cause.  

2. In supporting said action, the Undersigned relies on the Statement of Material Facts and the 

Undersigned’s Brief. 

 

 I certify that the foregoing statements made by me are true.  I am aware that if any of the 

foregoing statements are willfully false, I am subject to punishment.    

     

 

BY: _____________________________ 

Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

DATE: May 7, 2018 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

 

 

Civil Action 

 

 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

BRIEF IN SUPPORT OF PLAINTIFFS’ ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

       By: Jacqueline Rosa, Esq. 

 

 

       _________________________ 

May 7, 2018 
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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 This matter arises out of a lawsuit that was filed on January 30, 2018 against the Borough 

of Leonia and other defendants, for illegally closing some sixty (60) residential streets in their 

municipality to non-residents, and traffic with non-Leonia business.  

 Among other things, the complaint alleges that Ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

enacted by the Borough of Leonia, violate Plaintiff’s right to freedom of travel and are facially 

and presumptively invalid, as well as arbitrary, capricious, and unreasonable.  

 Defendants have been in violation of Plaintiff’s Civil rights since the enactment of the 

Ordinance in January 2018.   

  

STATEMENT OF UNDISPUTED MATERIAL FACTS 

1) On or about January 22, 2018 the Borough of Leonia enacted a ban on 60 residential streets in 

their municipality. 

2) The Borough cited to their Ordinance §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, which would block streets 

from 6:00am to 10:00am and from 4:00pm to 9:00pm.  

3) No person, unless a resident of the Borough, or a person who can demonstrate a need to access 

a residence or business would be allowed to use one of closed streets during the prescribed times.  

4) At no time prior to enacting the Ordinance, did the Borough consult the State of New Jersey, 

Department of Transportation, or the Commissioner of Transportation to get approval for said 

street closures.  

5) On or about May 2, 2018, the Attorney General of New Jersey, Gurbir Grewal, stated that the 

Borough’s road closures were “legally invalid,” and should be rescinded.   
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6) Defendants have refused to take down their signs and re-open their streets to the general 

public since enacting Ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2. 

7) Plaintiff now files this Order to Show Cause as irreparable harm is being caused by the 

continued closures.  

 

POINT 1 

A PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF IS APPROPRIATE 

 

 In bringing an Order to Show Cause for a preliminary injunction with temporary relief, 

Plaintiff must prove a four prong test. Crowe v. Di Gioia, 90 N.J. 126 (1982).  The first of the 

four prongs is to show irreparable harm to the Plaintiff. In the matter at hand the Defendants 

have had their streets closed for over four months to the Plaintiff and the public. Plaintiff is not 

allowed to freely travel on any of the closed streets during the nine hours of restricted time. 

Every day that goes by that the Plaintiff cannot use any of the Defendant’s public streets, her 

Civil Rights are being violated.          

Additionally, Plaintiff is a resident of a neighboring town and uses the Leonia streets to 

commute daily, go to parks in Leonia, visit shops and businesses. The Plaintiff cannot be stopped 

and questioned every time she chooses to use one of these streets. Plaintiff has the right to travel 

freely without being stopped and questioned by the Borough’s Police. The Court has found that, 

“in certain circumstances, severe personal inconvenience can constitute irreparable injury 

justifying issuance of injunctive relief. Hodge v. Giese, 43 N.J. Eq. 342, 350.  All of the 

Borough’s streets must be re-opened until the final resolution of the case.  

 The second principle is that temporary relief should be granted when the legal right 

underlying plaintiff's claim is settled. See, Crowe. Besides the fact that the current Attorney 

General has condemned the defendants’ Ordinance, there is additional support from the Attorney 
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General’s office from a 1955 written opinion. The opinion from 1955 was written in response to 

the Town of Demarest, NJ, trying to close streets exactly the same way the Defendants have.  

Then Attorney General, Grover C. Richman, Jr., took the position that, “The power to designate 

no ‘through streets’, is not among the powers granted to a municipality…”.   Attached as 

Exhibit A, Copy of the Opinion.  

 Defendants have also violated several New Jersey State laws. N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that 

any ordinance, resolution, or regulation which places any impact on a State roadway shall require 

the approval of the commissioner. The Ordinance clearly affects State roadways. The only 

remaining roads in Leonia that the Plaintiff can use during the restricted hours, are county roads 

and State Highways. Due to the traffic being restricted on over 60 side streets, plaintiff is forced 

to only use State operated roads to travel through Leonia. Plaintiff should not be forced to select 

only county roads or State highways to travel on. Additionally, all public travelers must face the 

same limited options during the restricted hours which leads to more traffic and dangerous 

conditions on the remaining routes. As admitted by Defense counsel, the defendants did not seek 

approval from the Commissioner and have unsuccessfully attempted to do so within the last 

month.  Further, N.J.S.A 39:4-8 states that a municipality that is enacting the ordinance, must 

provide appropriate notice to the adjoining municipality or county before enacting such 

ordinance. None of the surrounding towns or counties were alerted to these road closures before 

they took place.  

N.J.S.A 39:4-94.2 specifically states that anyone who drives a vehicle over or upon the 

closed section of the highway, road or street which he knows or should have reason to know has 

been closed to traffic shall be subject to a fine of no more than $100.00. The Borough has 

unilaterally decided on a fee they can charge to motorists which is in direct violation of state law. 
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Perhaps most alarmingly, Defendants are in violation of U.S. Code §1983, which 

guarantees Plaintiff her civil rights under the law. The law states, “every person who, under color 

of any statute, ordinance, regulation, custom, or usage, of any State or Territory or the District of 

Columbia, subjects, or causes to be subjected, any citizen of the United States or other person 

within the jurisdiction thereof to the deprivation of any rights, privileges, or immunities secured 

by the Constitution and laws, shall be liable to the party injured in an action at law, suit in equity, 

or other proper proceeding for redress.”  Defendants are violating Plaintiff’s Fifth Amendment 

right by arbitrarily denying Plaintiff her liberty to travel freely and not be stopped and questioned 

for using public roads.  

Lastly, the defendants are violating the Interstate Commerce Clause, found in Article 1, 

Section 8 of the US Constitution which states that a state may not pass legislation that 

discriminates against or excessively burdens interstate commerce. State regulations affecting 

interstate commerce, whose purpose or effect is to gain for those within the state an advantage at 

the expense of those without, or to burden those out of the state without any corresponding 

advantage to those within, impinge on the Plaintiff’s Constitutional rights. S.C. State Highway 

Dept. v. Barnwell Bros., Inc., 303 U.S. 177 (1938).  Defendants’ are clearly giving Leonia 

residents an advantage by keeping their roads closed to the public. Plaintiff cannot use Leonia 

roads to travel to New York when the restricted hours are in place. Plaintiff has the right to travel 

to and from New Jersey using whatever roads she wants.  

The third prong to prevail on an application for temporary relief, a plaintiff must make a 

preliminary showing of a reasonable probability of ultimate success on the merits. Ideal Laundry 

Co. v. Gugliemone, 107 N.J. Eq. 108, 115-16 (E. & A. 1930). Based on the law, and the fact that 

defendants have not shown any legal support for their Ordinances, Plaintiff has a high likelihood 
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of being successful at the ultimate outcome of the case. Additionally, New Jersey Statues and 

case law have shown that defendants are outside the scope of powers granted to municipalities.  

The last test is to show the relative hardship to the parties in granting or denying relief. 

Here, the town has not shown any conclusive evidence that they suffer more of a hardship than 

Plaintiff or any other commuting member of the public. Leonia existed for decades without road 

closures and for years since the invention of digital GPS. There is no hardship to the Borough if 

the signs are taken down. On the other hand, Plaintiff has not been allowed to use those roads for 

the past four months. In addition to having to find other ways to travel around Leonia and the 

surrounding area, Plaintiff has been deprived of her Constitutional Rights. Every day that the 

roads are closed, and the Ordinance is upheld, the Plaintiff’s Civil Liberties are being violated.  

Plaintiff clearly passes the four prong test in a showing of good cause for the temporary 

re-opening of the 60 streets. In order to protect the Plaintiff’s civil rights, the Order to Show 

Cause must be granted and the streets must be re-opened immediately.  

 

CONCLUSION 

For all of the foregoing reasons, the Plaintiff’s application must be granted. Plaintiff is 

requesting that all signage be taken down, all police checks cease, all police stops cease, and 

public notice is given that the streets are re-opened to the public.  

 

         By: Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

 

May 7, 2018       ______________________ 
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EXHIBIT A 
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EXHIBIT B 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

ORDER GRANTING A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

 

 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

 THIS MATTER coming before the Court on an Order to Show Cause by Jacqueline Rosa, 

Esq., pro se attorney, and good and sufficient cause having been shown; 

It is on this ________ day of May, 2018, 

ORDERED that all restrictions on the 60 streets in Leonia must be rescinded, 

ORDERED that all signage pertaining to the road restrictions be taken down, 

ORDERED that all Police checks and stops must cease,  

ORDERED that notice be given to the public that Leonia streets are again available for all 

public use, 

 ORDERED that a copy of this Order be served upon all counsel within seven (7) days of 

receipt by plaintiff’s counsel. 

______________________________ 

       Honorable Peter F. Bariso, J.S.C. 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 
 

 

 
 

 

Civil Action 

 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

PURSURANT TO R. 4:52 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH 

ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor 

of the Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

THIS MATTER being brought before the court by Jacqueline Rosa, a pro se plaintiff, 

seeking relief by way of temporary restraints pursuant to R. 4:52, based upon the facts set forth 

in the verified complaint filed herewith; and it appearing that the defendants have notice of this 

application and have been served with a copy of this Order To Show Cause, and for good cause 

shown. It is on this ____ day of __________ ORDERED that defendants, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his 

official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia appear and show cause before the Superior 

Court at the _______ County Courthouse in _____________, New Jersey at _____ o’clock in the 

_____ noon or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard, on the ________day of 

______________, 2018 why an Order should not be issued preliminarily enjoining and 

restraining defendants, BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM 
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ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia from;        

A.  Continuing to enforce municipal ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, 

B. Continuing police checks, stops and warnings,  

C.  Defendants must remove all signage, 

D.  Granting such other relief as the court deems equitable and just.  

And it is further ORDERED that pending the return date herein, the defendant is 

temporarily enjoined and restrained from:  

A.  Enforcing ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

B.  The Borough of Leonia must re-open their roads to the Plaintiff, and the public without 

any restrictions.  

And it is further ORDERED that:  

1. The defendant may move to dissolve or modify the temporary restraints herein 

contained on two (2) days notice to the Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

2. A copy of this order to show cause, verified complaint, legal memorandum and any 

supporting affidavits or certifications submitted in support of this application be served upon the 

defendants personally within ____ days of the date hereof, in accordance with R. 4:4-3 and R. 

4:4-4, this being original process.  

3. The plaintiff must file with the court his/her/its proof of service of the pleadings on the 

defendant no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

4. Defendant shall file and serve a written response to this order to show cause and the 

request for entry of injunctive relief and proof of service by _________________, 2018. The 

original documents must be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the county listed above. 

You must send a copy of your opposition papers directly to Judge _____________________, 
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whose address is ________________________________, New Jersey. You must also send a 

copy of your opposition papers to the plaintiff’s attorney whose name and address appears 

above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. A telephone call will not protect your 

rights; you must file your opposition and pay the required fee of $ ______ and serve your 

opposition on your adversary, if you want the court to hear your opposition to the injunctive 

relief the plaintiff is seeking.  

5. The plaintiff must file and serve any written reply to the defendant’s order to show 

cause opposition by _________________, 2018. The reply papers must be filed with the Clerk of 

the Superior Court in the county listed above and a copy of the reply papers must be sent directly 

to the chambers of Judge _____________________.  

6. If the defendant does not file and serve opposition to this order to show cause, the 

application will be decided on the papers on the return date and relief may be granted by default, 

provided that the plaintiff files a proof of service and a proposed form of order at least three days 

prior to the return date.  

7. If the plaintiff has not already done so, a proposed form of order addressing the relief 

sought on the return date (along with a self-addressed return envelope with return address and 

postage) must be submitted to the court no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

8. Defendant take notice that the plaintiff has filed a lawsuit against you in the Superior 

Court of New Jersey. The verified complaint attached to this order to show cause states the basis 

of the lawsuit. If you dispute this complaint, you, or your attorney, must file a written answer to 

the complaint and proof of service within 35 days from the date of service of this order to show 

cause; not counting the day you received it. These documents must be filed with the Clerk of the 

Superior Court in the county listed above. Include a $_______ filing fee payable to the 
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“Treasurer State of New Jersey.” You must also send a copy of your Answer to the plaintiff’s 

attorney whose name and address appear above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. 

A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file and serve your Answer (with the fee) 

or judgment may be entered against you by default. Please note: Opposition to the order to show 

cause is not an Answer and you must file both. Please note further: if you do not file and serve an 

Answer within 35 days of this Order, the Court may enter a default against you for the relief 

plaintiff demands.  

9. The court will entertain argument, but not testimony, on the return date of the order to 

show cause, unless the court and parties are advised to the contrary no later than ___ days before 

the return date.  

 

 

 __________________________________  

      J.S.C 

 

Dated: ___________________________ 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 
 

 

 
 

 

Civil Action 

 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

PURSURANT TO R. 4:52 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH 

ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor 

of the Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

THIS MATTER being brought before the court by Jacqueline Rosa, a pro se plaintiff, 

seeking relief by way of temporary restraints pursuant to R. 4:52, based upon the facts set forth 

in the verified complaint filed herewith; and it appearing that the defendants have notice of this 

application and have been served with a copy of this Order To Show Cause, and for good cause 

shown. It is on this ____ day of __________ ORDERED that defendants, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his 

official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia appear and show cause before the Superior 

Court at the _______ County Courthouse in _____________, New Jersey at _____ o’clock in the 

_____ noon or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard, on the ________day of 

______________, 2018 why an Order should not be issued preliminarily enjoining and 

restraining defendants, BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM 
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ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia from;        

A.  Continuing to enforce municipal ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, 

B. Continuing police checks, stops and warnings,  

C.  Defendants must remove all signage, 

D.  Granting such other relief as the court deems equitable and just.  

And it is further ORDERED that pending the return date herein, the defendant is 

temporarily enjoined and restrained from:  

A.  Enforcing ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

B.  The Borough of Leonia must re-open their roads to the Plaintiff, and the public without 

any restrictions.  

And it is further ORDERED that:  

1. The defendant may move to dissolve or modify the temporary restraints herein 

contained on two (2) days notice to the Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

2. A copy of this order to show cause, verified complaint, legal memorandum and any 

supporting affidavits or certifications submitted in support of this application be served upon the 

defendants personally within ____ days of the date hereof, in accordance with R. 4:4-3 and R. 

4:4-4, this being original process.  

3. The plaintiff must file with the court his/her/its proof of service of the pleadings on the 

defendant no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

4. Defendant shall file and serve a written response to this order to show cause and the 

request for entry of injunctive relief and proof of service by _________________, 2018. The 

original documents must be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the county listed above. 

You must send a copy of your opposition papers directly to Judge _____________________, 
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whose address is ________________________________, New Jersey. You must also send a 

copy of your opposition papers to the plaintiff’s attorney whose name and address appears 

above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. A telephone call will not protect your 

rights; you must file your opposition and pay the required fee of $ ______ and serve your 

opposition on your adversary, if you want the court to hear your opposition to the injunctive 

relief the plaintiff is seeking.  

5. The plaintiff must file and serve any written reply to the defendant’s order to show 

cause opposition by _________________, 2018. The reply papers must be filed with the Clerk of 

the Superior Court in the county listed above and a copy of the reply papers must be sent directly 

to the chambers of Judge _____________________.  

6. If the defendant does not file and serve opposition to this order to show cause, the 

application will be decided on the papers on the return date and relief may be granted by default, 

provided that the plaintiff files a proof of service and a proposed form of order at least three days 

prior to the return date.  

7. If the plaintiff has not already done so, a proposed form of order addressing the relief 

sought on the return date (along with a self-addressed return envelope with return address and 

postage) must be submitted to the court no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

8. Defendant take notice that the plaintiff has filed a lawsuit against you in the Superior 

Court of New Jersey. The verified complaint attached to this order to show cause states the basis 

of the lawsuit. If you dispute this complaint, you, or your attorney, must file a written answer to 

the complaint and proof of service within 35 days from the date of service of this order to show 

cause; not counting the day you received it. These documents must be filed with the Clerk of the 

Superior Court in the county listed above. Include a $_______ filing fee payable to the 
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“Treasurer State of New Jersey.” You must also send a copy of your Answer to the plaintiff’s 

attorney whose name and address appear above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. 

A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file and serve your Answer (with the fee) 

or judgment may be entered against you by default. Please note: Opposition to the order to show 

cause is not an Answer and you must file both. Please note further: if you do not file and serve an 

Answer within 35 days of this Order, the Court may enter a default against you for the relief 

plaintiff demands.  

9. The court will entertain argument, but not testimony, on the return date of the order to 

show cause, unless the court and parties are advised to the contrary no later than ___ days before 

the return date.  

 

 

 __________________________________  

      J.S.C 

 

Dated: ___________________________ 
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

  

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

 

  

 SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 
 

 

 
 

 

Civil Action 

 

ORDER TO SHOW CAUSE FOR A 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

PURSURANT TO R. 4:52 

 

 

  

Plaintiff,  

   vs.  

  

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH 

ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor 

of the Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

  

Defendants.  

  

 

 

THIS MATTER being brought before the court by Jacqueline Rosa, a pro se plaintiff, 

seeking relief by way of temporary restraints pursuant to R. 4:52, based upon the facts set forth 

in the verified complaint filed herewith; and it appearing that the defendants have notice of this 

application and have been served with a copy of this Order To Show Cause, and for good cause 

shown. It is on this ____ day of __________ ORDERED that defendants, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his 

official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia appear and show cause before the Superior 

Court at the _______ County Courthouse in _____________, New Jersey at _____ o’clock in the 

_____ noon or as soon thereafter as counsel can be heard, on the ________day of 

______________, 2018 why an Order should not be issued preliminarily enjoining and 

restraining defendants, BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM 
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ROWE, JUDAH ZEIGLER, in his official capacity as Mayor of the Borough of Leonia from;        

A.  Continuing to enforce municipal ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2, 

B. Continuing police checks, stops and warnings,  

C.  Defendants must remove all signage, 

D.  Granting such other relief as the court deems equitable and just.  

And it is further ORDERED that pending the return date herein, the defendant is 

temporarily enjoined and restrained from:  

A.  Enforcing ordinances §194-25.1 and §194-25.2 

B.  The Borough of Leonia must re-open their roads to the Plaintiff, and the public without 

any restrictions.  

And it is further ORDERED that:  

1. The defendant may move to dissolve or modify the temporary restraints herein 

contained on two (2) days notice to the Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  

2. A copy of this order to show cause, verified complaint, legal memorandum and any 

supporting affidavits or certifications submitted in support of this application be served upon the 

defendants personally within ____ days of the date hereof, in accordance with R. 4:4-3 and R. 

4:4-4, this being original process.  

3. The plaintiff must file with the court his/her/its proof of service of the pleadings on the 

defendant no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

4. Defendant shall file and serve a written response to this order to show cause and the 

request for entry of injunctive relief and proof of service by _________________, 2018. The 

original documents must be filed with the Clerk of the Superior Court in the county listed above. 

You must send a copy of your opposition papers directly to Judge _____________________, 
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whose address is ________________________________, New Jersey. You must also send a 

copy of your opposition papers to the plaintiff’s attorney whose name and address appears 

above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. A telephone call will not protect your 

rights; you must file your opposition and pay the required fee of $ ______ and serve your 

opposition on your adversary, if you want the court to hear your opposition to the injunctive 

relief the plaintiff is seeking.  

5. The plaintiff must file and serve any written reply to the defendant’s order to show 

cause opposition by _________________, 2018. The reply papers must be filed with the Clerk of 

the Superior Court in the county listed above and a copy of the reply papers must be sent directly 

to the chambers of Judge _____________________.  

6. If the defendant does not file and serve opposition to this order to show cause, the 

application will be decided on the papers on the return date and relief may be granted by default, 

provided that the plaintiff files a proof of service and a proposed form of order at least three days 

prior to the return date.  

7. If the plaintiff has not already done so, a proposed form of order addressing the relief 

sought on the return date (along with a self-addressed return envelope with return address and 

postage) must be submitted to the court no later than three (3) days before the return date.  

8. Defendant take notice that the plaintiff has filed a lawsuit against you in the Superior 

Court of New Jersey. The verified complaint attached to this order to show cause states the basis 

of the lawsuit. If you dispute this complaint, you, or your attorney, must file a written answer to 

the complaint and proof of service within 35 days from the date of service of this order to show 

cause; not counting the day you received it. These documents must be filed with the Clerk of the 

Superior Court in the county listed above. Include a $_______ filing fee payable to the 
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“Treasurer State of New Jersey.” You must also send a copy of your Answer to the plaintiff’s 

attorney whose name and address appear above, or to the plaintiff, if no attorney is named above. 

A telephone call will not protect your rights; you must file and serve your Answer (with the fee) 

or judgment may be entered against you by default. Please note: Opposition to the order to show 

cause is not an Answer and you must file both. Please note further: if you do not file and serve an 

Answer within 35 days of this Order, the Court may enter a default against you for the relief 

plaintiff demands.  

9. The court will entertain argument, but not testimony, on the return date of the order to 

show cause, unless the court and parties are advised to the contrary no later than ___ days before 

the return date.  

 

 

 __________________________________  

      J.S.C 

 

Dated: ___________________________ 
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May 14, 2018 

 

VIA E-Courts & Lawyer’s Service 

Honorable Peter F. Bariso 

Superior Court of New Jersey 

Hudson County Superior Court 

583 Newark Avenue 

Jersey City, NJ 07306     

      Re: Rosa v. Leonia, et al.  

      HUD-L-0607-18 

 

Dear Judge Bariso: 

 

 As Your Honor already knows, I am the Plaintiff in the above captioned matter. A hearing 

for the Order to Show Cause is scheduled for Wednesday, May 16, 2018. Kindly accept this letter 

brief in lieu of more formal reply in response to Defendant’s Opposition.   

 Defendant’s opposition contains their statement of facts that uses language like “crippling” 

and “serious concerns.” Yet to date, there has been no tests, studies, or actual evidence that Leonia 

suffers any more serious harm than other other town in New Jersey. The Defendants’ used the 

guidelines of act now and think later. They did not do anything to ensure their Ordinance was 

legal. Pushing the public and the Court into thinking they have a “crippling” traffic problem 

without any regard for the law, not only makes the Defendants’ actions outrageous, but completely 

illegal.  
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 In their papers, Defendants’ first point neatly lays out the law in regards to granting a 

preliminary injunction. Plaintiff maintains, as written in her original moving papers that all four 

prongs are met. 

 Secondly, Defendants’ argue that no proof has been submitted that Plaintiff will suffer 

irreparable harm. In addition to submitted case law, Plaintiff’s Civil Rights are being egregiously 

violated. Every day the streets have restrictions, the Plaintiff’s Civil Rights continue to be infringed 

upon. Plaintiff has a basic human right to travel freely and not be stopped and questioned or 

restricted from public streets that she so chooses to drive on. There is no more irreperable harm 

that having ones Civil Rights continuously violated.  

 Defendant’s further argue that N.J.S.A 39:4-197 supports their discirminating against 

certain traffic, and ignores N.J.S.A 39:4:-8. Firstly, N.J.S.A 39:4-197, does say “regulating the 

passage or stopping of traffic.” However the law did not intend to discriminate against in town 

versus out of town drivers. Any regulations that are in place must be for all drivers not just ones 

that live in the town, or who can provide revenue for the town. Defendant totally mischaracterizes 

the purpose of the statute and believes they can use regulating congested streets to include closing 

60 streets for 9 hours a day to out of town commuters. The argument is unfounded and has no basis 

in fact or law.  

 Further, while ignoring and believing N.J.S.A 39: 4:-8 has nothing to do with this case, 

Defendants failed to read the statute in its entirety. Before you can even get to N.J.S.A 39:4-197, 

the purpose and the scope of Title 39 involing traffic regulation begins with N.J.S.A 39:4:-8. The 

law clearly states that any and all regulations that place a burden on State run roadways, or any 

adjourning municipality or county, must have Commissioner approval. Defendants obviously will 

not allow the general public or Plaintiff to use their roads for 9 hours a day. That leaves only State 
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roads, and county roads in Leonia and other municipalities. You do not have to look very far to see 

that the surrounding towns have been adversely affected by Leonia’s road closures. Plaintiff should 

not have to carefully map out which roads she can use during the restricted hours.  

 Defendants have maintained since the beginning of the road restrictions that the case of 

Arlington County v. Richards gives them the authority to restrict the roads. Firstly, this action is a 

New Jersey State action so defendants are grasping at straws if their only legal backing is a Federal 

case in Virginia. Secondly, and more alarming, is that the entire legal basis for defendants’ 

Ordinance rests on a case that has to do with parking. The case deals with issuing parking permits 

to some commuters to encourage car pooling and mass transit. The case did not restrict which 

streets a person may travel on, and instead, only designated areas where they could park. It seems 

the Defendants’ took their cue from this case by issuing almost the exact same restrictions. In 

Arlington, the town issued permits to residents, and people doing business in the town, and 

restricted the times other could park there. All others would be given tickets.  The Defendants’ 

reliance on this case is totally wrong and they are stretching what the Supreme Court intended in 

their ruling with parking cars. Defendants’ liberally applied the law to include driving on streets 

and have still found no case on point.  

 Defendants’ argument that the Ordinance does not violate the Commerce Clause because of 

the direction their streets run is laughable. Plaintiff and any other person can chose to travel 

between States using whatever direction and streets they want. For instance, if the Plaintiff chose to 

drive to New York by taking Route 4 East, and decided to get off on Jones Road and use 

Edgewood Road to cut up through Fort Lee to the George Washington Bridge, she would not be 

allowed because Edgewood Road is blocked to her. So although Edgewood road runs north to 

south, it is a overpass that goes over Route 80 and allows Plaintiff to get off the highway and use 
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other streets to get to the Bridge. Further, Defendants’ prove Plaintiff’s argument by saying 

Plaintiff can use the streets to get to New York, but only during the prescibed times. Defendants’ 

blatant disregard for Plaintiff’s Civil Rights is demonstrated in their loose attempts to back their 

Ordinance.  

 Defendants keep repeating that they are being harmed, however they have shown no proof, 

no studies, no law. The fact that Defense counsel set up a meeting with the Department of 

transportation after a complaint was filed, shows they needed some backing. The Defendants’ have 

not received any support from the DOT or Commissioner. As much as the Defendants would like 

to toss aside the Attorney General’s recent decision, it is telling that the State is not supporting the 

Defendants’ bogus Ordinance.  

 Lastly, it is imcumbent upon the Court to grant Plaintiff’s Order to Show Cause. Besides all 

the reasons set forth in the original brief and this reply brief, the Court needs to set a precedent. As 

it is, since Leonia enacted their Ordinance, the town of Weehawken has followed and put their 

owns restrictions in place. If the Court allows this behavior to continue, every town in New Jersey 

will soon have similar restrictions. If the Plaintiff is not allowed to travel freely from town to town 

without being stopped by police, or making sure it is during the correct hours, then Plaintiff’s 

Constitutional rights cease to exist. Every day that the Ordinance stays in effect, the Plaintiff’s 

Constituional rights are not only being violated, but she is entitled to punitive damages as well.  

 For all of the above mentioned reasons, plaintiff requests the the Court grant the Order to 

Show cause in its entirety.  

        Respectfully submitted,  

 

        Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  
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         May 17, 2018 

Via E-Courts & Lawyer Service 

Honorable Peter F. Bariso 

Superior Court of New Jersey 

Hudson County Superior Court 

583 Newark Avenue 

Jersey City, NJ 07306 

 

    Re: Rosa v. Leonia 

    HUD-L-607-18 

 

Dear Judge Bariso: 

 

 As per your request, please find additional arguments supporting Plaintiff’s Order to Show 

Cause, including a showing of irreparable harm.  

 

Generally, the equitable relief of a preliminary injunction should not be entered except 

when necessary to prevent substantial, immediate and irreparable harm. Citizens Coach Co. v. 

Camden Horse R.R. Co., 29 N.J. Eq. 299, 303-04. Here the Plaintiff has demonstrated that her 

Civil Rights are being violated. She cannot travel freely on public roads in the Defendant’s 

Borough. Additionally, the purpose of a preliminary injunction "is to maintain the parties in 

substantially the same condition when the final decree is entered as they were when the litigation 

began. Peters v. Public Service Corp., 132 N.J. Eq. 500, 29 A.2d 189. Prior to the enactment of 

the Ordinance, Plaintiff was able to drive throughout Leonia at whatever time and for whatever 
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reason she chose. Since the enactment, Plaintiff cannot use the roads unless she has a Leonia 

destination during the nine hour span. Plaintiff needs to be placed back into the position of being 

able to use any roads she wants, just as it was before the start of the Ordinance. Plaintiff cannot 

be forced to wait until litigation is over until she is able to drive freely through Leonia.  

It is well settled that, where legal rights have been invaded, and a federal statute provides 

for a general right to sue for such invasion, federal courts may use any available remedy to make 

good the wrong done. Bivens v. Six Unknown Named Agents of Federal Bureau of Narcotics, 403 

U.S. 388 (1971).  Similarly, the “…court should exercise its power to accord a traditional form of 

judicial relief at the behest of a litigant, who claims a constitutionally protected interest has been 

invaded, only where the remedy is "essential," or "indispensable for vindicating constitutional 

rights.” Id. Here, Plaintiff is clearly being banned from the streets of Leonia during certain hours. 

She is claiming a violation of her Civil Rights under the Fifth Amendment. It is incumbent on the 

Court to protect the Plaintiff’s Civil Rights and find that the closing of the streets presents an 

irreparable harm.    

 Lastly, the Courts have found that irreparable harm is presumed where Constitutional 

Rights are being violated. Although dealing with the first amendment instead of the fifth, the 

Court in Elrod found, “any loss of first amendment freedoms, even for minimal periods of time, 

can constitute irreparable injury. See Elrod v. Burns, 427 U.S. 347, 96 S. Ct. 2673, 49 L. Ed. 2d 

547 (1976) and American Civil Liberties Union v. the Florida Bar, 744 F. Supp. 1094 (N.D. Fla. 

1990).  It is clear that the Court did not just intend for first amendment rights to be considered 

irreparable harm. “Showing a violation of Fifth Amendment Rights constitutes irreparable harm 

justifying a preliminary injunction.” Able v. United States, 847 F. Supp. 1038 (E.D.N.Y. 1994). 
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Every day that the Leonia Ordinance stands, the Plaintiff’s Civil rights continue to be 

violated. The Courts have demonstrated in a plethora of cases that a violation of Civil Rights 

constitutes irreparable harm. The defendants’ cannot show any conclusive evidence why the 

Plaintiff’s Motion should not be granted and cannot outweigh her irreparable harm with their 

own.  

For all the reasons stated previously, the Court should grant the Plaintiff’s Order to Show 

Cause to restore the Plaintiff’s civil liberties so she may once again travel freely.  

  

      Respectfully Submitted,  

 

 

      Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.  
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SEIGEL LAW FIRM LLC 

Jacqueline Rosa – 009372010 

505 Goffle Road 

Ridgewood, NJ 07450 

(201) 444-4000 

___________________________________ 

JACQUELINE ROSA, 

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY 

LAW DIVISION: HUDSON COUNTY 

Plaintiff, 

DOCKET NO. HUD-L-607-18 

 

ORDER DENYING 

PRELIMINARY INJUNCTION 

WITH TEMPORARY RELIEF 

vs. 

BOROUGH OF LEONIA, BOROUGH OF 

LEONIA COUNCIL, TOM ROWE in his 

official capacity as acting Borough Clerk of 

the Borough of Leonia, JUDAH ZEIGLER, 

in his official capacity as Mayor of the 

Borough of Leonia, JOHN DOE 

MAINTENANCE COMPANIES 1-5 

 

Defendants. 

_____________________________________ 

  THIS MATTER coming before the Court on an Order to Show Cause by 

Jacqueline Rosa Esq., pro se attorney, with Brian Chewcaskie Esq., appearing on behalf of 

defendants, and Deputy Attorney General Philip Espinosa Esq., appearing on behalf of the 

Attorney General’s Office, 

 It is on this 21st day of May, 2018,  

ORDERED that the application for a Preliminary Injunction is Denied for the reasons placed on 

the record on May 21, 2018. 

 Uploaded in Ecourts.  

        ____________________________ 

        Hon. Peter F. Bariso Jr.  
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State o f New Jersey
PHILIP D. MURPHY OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAT,

Governor DEPARTMENT OF LAW AND PUBLIC SAFETY

DIVISION OF LAW

SHEILA Y. OLIVER 25 MARKET STREET

Lt. Governor PO Box 114

TRENTON, NJ 08625-0114

June 8, 2018

Via eCourts

Honorable Peter F. Bariso, Jr., A.J.S.C.

Hudson County Administration Building

9th Floor - Chambers 9 0 6

595 Newark Avenue
Jersey City, New Jersey 07306

GURBIR S. GREWAL

Attorney General

MICHELLE L. MILLER

Director

Re: Jacqueline Rosa v. Borough of Leonia, et al.

Docket No.: HUD-L-607-18
Proposed Consent Order for Leave to Intervene

Dear Judge Bariso:

On behalf of the State of New Jersey Department of

Transportation (DOT), we respectfully request that Your Honor

enter the enclosed consent order granting the DOT leave to

intervene in this case, which has been signed by all counsel in

this case. In this regard, as your Honor recalls, following

oral argument on May 21, 2018, counsel consented to the entry of

a consent order granting the DOT leave to intervene, without the

need for the DOT to file a motion.

Thank you.

Respectfully yours,

GURBIR S. GREWAL

ATTORNEY GENERAL OF NEW JERSEY
w

By:
flip s 'nosa

Deputy A o ney General

Attorney ID No.: 030311988

HUGHES ~TUSTICE COMPLEX • TELEPxorrE: (609) 376-3300 • Fax: (609) 943-5853

New Jersey Is An Equal Opportunity Employer • Prir~ted on Recycled Paper and Recyclable
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June 8, 2018

Page 2

Encl.

Cc (via eCourts and email)
Jacqueline Rosa, Esq.

Brian M. Chewcaskie, Esq.
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GURBIR S. ~REWAL

ATTaRNEY GENE~~L O~ SEW JERSEY
R > J. ~~ughes Jtastice complex
25 Market Street
P.Q. ~3ox 114
Trentr~n, New ~Ter~sey X8625
Attorney for t~~e Stag of New Jersey
~7e~artment o~ ̀ ~`ranspc~rtatiQn
By; ~'hilip ~. Espi.nosa (Attor.ney TD No.: 03t73:11.~8~)

Deputy A~t~orney General.
{609} 376-3300

SUPERIOR COURT OF NEW JERSEY
x~AW DZUISICJN - IiUVSQN COUNTY
DOCKET NQ. ; ~iUD-L-607-1~3

JACQUELINE ~tU~A,

Pla:irltiff, C.i.vil l~ctiari

v . CQNSENT ORDER FOR I,E.~~TE
TO INTERVENE

BOROUGH ~F LEONI.~-1, ET' AI... ,

Defendants.

This matter hav~.nq beer. ot~ened ~,a the ~;our~ by C~t.~rbir

S. Grewal, ~lttorn~y G~n~ral of New J~rs~y, by ~'ha,1~i~~ ,~ .

~s~inosa, Deputy Attorney Genera, att.orn~y fo.r t~Ze St~t~ n~ New

J~rs~y Department o~ `Trans~r~rtation ~ C~C~'~`) , and the court hav~..ng

con~i~ered this matter, ar~d the pa~:.es having cc~ns~nt~cl ~.c~ this

proposed con~en~ order far leave t~ in~.erv~ne, and ~'or gcaoc~

~~use hav~.ng b~~ra shown;

I~' TS on th~.s clay cif ?01.$, flKDEF~.EI~:

-1-
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1. ~.Phe L~C7T ;i.s her~i~~ given lea~re to ~.nt~erv~r~~ in

thl.s ~ctior anc~ :~o file ~.ts complai.nt on eCourts within 14 days

o~ the entry ~f this carder, with .like e~fcct as if the DOT had

been named an arig~.na.1_ plaintiff .

~. The I~C7'I:'` s filing a£ its complaint on eC:ourts shall

act as s~~vic~: of p~c~cess uz>c~r~ the parties in this case.

3 . 'ih.e par. ~i~s to ~ hi_s act.i_on shad have 2Q days

from the c~~te of t~~~ entry a~ this order in wl~iich to ser.v~ ~r~

answer. car otrer~ri.se ~:l.~ad with respect to the complaint of the

~~t~1

W~ hereby consent tc~ the form. and. entry of t~i.~ order:

SEIG~:L IaAW ~`IRM,

,J~gt'i~1.in-- Rosa, Esq.
Pro Se ~,~.ntiff M Q0~~7Z,0 0
t At~~c~ ey ID ~3a..

~~t~~; ~~

_ ~~_
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GZTTLEMAN MUHLSTQCK & CHFWCASKIE

By: ,
i'

~~~ r~. n h wcaski~, Csq.
(Attorney :LU No.: 021201984)

/ Attorney for Dcf~nd~~.nts
Borough of Leonia; Borough

of Leonia. council; Tam Rowe
and Judah Z~agler.

GURBTR S . GREGJ~L
AT°I'C7Rt~EY GENERAL OF NEW JERSEY

By,
~h`~.1i.p J. ~n~osa
D~put rnFy General
(At r ID No.: 030311988)
Attar ~ for the State of
New Jersey Department of
Transportation

Dated: '

Dated. 6

-3-
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